

# THE HAMPTON ROVERS AMATEUR FOOTBALL CLUB INC CONSTITUTION

---

## TITLE

1. The name of the incorporated association is **THE HAMPTON ROVERS AMATEUR FOOTBALL CLUB INC.** (hereinafter called "The Club").

## DEFINITIONS

2. In this constitution, unless the contrary intention appears -

**the following interpretations shall apply:**

**"Board of Management"** means the Board of Management of the Club.

**"Seniors Committee"** means the Committee of Management of the Seniors.

**"Juniors Committee"** means the Committee of Management of the Juniors.

**"Financial Year"** means the year ending the 30<sup>th</sup>. September.

**"The Act"** means the Associations Incorporation Act 1981.

**"Seniors"** means teams consisting mainly of players over 18. years of age.

**"Juniors"** means teams consisting mainly of players under 18. years of age.

**"Regulations"** means the Associations Incorporation Regulations 1993.

**"Rules"** means the Rules of the Club in force for the time being.

**"Month"** means a calendar month.

- Words or expression contained in the Rules (and By Laws) shall be interpreted in accordance with the "Interpretation of Legislation Act 1984" and that Act as in force from time to time.

- Words importing the singular number include the plural and vice-versa.

- Words importing the feminine gender include the masculine gender and vice versa.

## **COLOURS**

3. The colours of the club shall be green and gold and shall be worn by all teams representing the Club in competitive sports subject to the conditions, rules and regulations of the bodies in which the club is represented.

## **OBJECTS**

4. The objects of the Club shall be:
  - (i) to foster and further the interests of competitive sporting and social activities.
  - (ii) to maintain and conduct a Club of non-political character to provide Club rooms, ancillary premises, football ovals for the playing of football and other facilities for the use and recreation of the members of the Club and their guests at such times or places as the members from time to time determine, to apply for, hold and renew the Club's licences pursuant to the Liquor Control Act and the Gaming Acts of the State of Victoria, to sell food, liquor and other provisions for the use of members and their guests, and generally to offer to them all the usual privileges, advantages and conveniences of the Club.
  - (iii) to raise or borrow any moneys required for the purposes of the Club upon such terms and conditions and/or such securities as may be determined.
  - (iv) to purchase, take, lease, exchange, hire or otherwise acquire any real or personal property and other rights and privileges necessary or convenient for the purposes of the Club.
  - (v) to construct, alter, add to and maintain all buildings and other property belonging to the Club.
  - (vi) to sell, mortgage, improve, manage, develop, lease, dispose of, turn to account or otherwise deal with all or any part of the property of the Club.
  - (vii) to apply through an authorised officer of the Club for a liquor licence appropriate to the needs of the members.
  - (viii) to maintain under the Associations Incorporation Act 1981 an existing incorporated body known as The Hampton Rovers Amateur Football Club Incorporated and thereby to hold all the assets and be responsible for all the liabilities and the management and control of the affairs of that body.
  - (ix) to do all such things as are incidental or necessary for the achievement of the above purposes.
  - (x) such other purposes as the members may determine.

## **MEMBERSHIP CLASSIFICATION**

5. The Club shall consist of the following classes of Membership:
- (a) Full Club Membership.
  - (b) Life Membership.
  - (c) Junior Club Membership.
  - (d) Social Membership
  - (e) Temporary Membership

## **MEMBERSHIP AGE LIMIT**

6. No person under the age of eighteen (18) years shall be admitted as a member of the Club other than as a Junior Club Member.

## **MEMBERSHIP PRIVILEGES**

7. 1. Full Club Members and Life Members who alone shall be eligible to vote at Club Meetings and are entitled to one vote are entitled to all the privileges of the Club as set out in the Rules.
2. Junior Club Members, Social Members, and Temporary Members, shall be entitled to such privileges as are set out in the Rules and any additional privileges as the Board may from time to time determine but are not entitled to vote.
3. A right, privilege or obligation of a person by reason of membership of the Club:
- (a) is not capable of being transferred or transmitted to another person.
  - (b) terminates upon cessation of membership whether by death or resignation or otherwise.

## **FULL CLUB MEMBERSHIP**

8. A person aged not less than 18 years may become a Full Club Member on payment of the amount due under the Rules and may include:
- (1) Any player 18 years and over who has paid the amount due under the rules.
  - (2) Any person who has paid the amount due under the rules.
  - (3) One Parent of a junior player who has paid the amount due under the rules.
  - (4) Any person elected on either the junior or senior committee or who has an official club role shall be given honorary full club membership with voting rights and this club membership shall be for the period of their tenure.”

## **LIFE MEMBERSHIP**

9. (1) A Full Club Member who has been a Club member for at least ten (10) years and has rendered outstanding service to the Club may be recommended as a Life Member and may be conferred with Life Membership.
- (2) A Life Member shall have full privileges of the Club and shall not be obliged to pay any future Subscriptions or levies.
- (3) Candidates for Life Membership may be proposed and seconded by any Full Members to either the Juniors Committee or Seniors Committee.
- (4) A maximum of four (4) candidates may be conferred with Life Membership each year.
- (5) The Board of Management shall vote for or against the candidates by secret ballot.
- (6) A three quarter majority of the Board of Management is necessary for the vote to be carried.
- (7) The announcement and presentation of Life Membership shall be made at the Seniors Presentation Ceremony in each year and will be recorded at the Annual General Meeting each year.

## **JUNIOR CLUB MEMBERSHIP**

10. (1) Any person under the age of eighteen (18) years may be a Junior Club Member upon payment of the amount due under the Rules.
- (2) A Junior Club Member shall not be permitted to hold office or to nominate or second other members for such positions or to vote at any meeting of the Club.
- (3) A Junior Club Member reaching the age of eighteen (18) years as at the first day of April shall be classified as a Full Club Member and from that date becomes liable for payment of the subscriptions for a Full Club Member.
- (4) A Junior Club Member shall be subject to the Rules and Regulations of the Liquor Control Act and all other Statutes relating to the admission of persons under eighteen (18) years of age to licensed Clubs.

## **SOCIAL MEMBERSHIP.**

11. (1) Any person over the age of eighteen (18) years may be admitted as a Social Member upon payment of the amount due under the Rules.
- (2) A Social member shall be entitled to all the privileges of the Club other than the right to:
  - (a) vote at any meeting of the Club.
  - (b) hold any office in the Club.
  - (c) nominate or second other members for office in the Club.
- (3) The number of Social Members shall not exceed 25% of the Full Club Membership.

## **TEMPORARY MEMBERSHIP**

- 12 (1) Members and supporters of other Football Clubs present at the Club for the purpose of playing or officiating, or spectators may be Temporary Members for that day without payment of any amount.
- (2) A Temporary Member shall be entitled to use the amenities of the Club.
- (3) A Temporary Member shall not be entitled to vote or speak at any Club election or Club meeting, shall not be entitled to offer themselves for membership of any of the Club Committees and shall not be entitled to introduce visitors to Club premises.
- (4) The Board shall have power to withdraw any or all privileges from a Temporary Member.
- (5) A person shall not:
  - (a) be admitted as a Temporary Member of the Club; or
  - (b) be exempted from the obligation to pay the ordinary subscription for membership of the Club.;

unless the person is of a class specified in these Rules and the admission or exemption is in accordance with the Rules.

### **COMPLIANCE OF MEMBERS**

13. (1) A member binds themselves to observe and abide by the Constitution and any rules or regulations of the Club.
- (2) Every Full Club member, and Life Members shall be entitled to attend and vote personally or by proxy at any Annual General Meeting or Special General Meeting of the Club.
- (3) No Junior Club Member, Social Member or Temporary Member shall be entitled to vote or hold office or nominate or second others for office or speak at any Club meeting or election.
- (4) No member shall be entitled to vote at any Annual General Meeting or Special General Meeting of the Club unless his/her annual subscription and any moneys due by him/her to the Club have been paid.
- (5) No member shall be eligible for election as an office bearer unless his/her annual subscription and any moneys due by him/her to the Club have been paid.
- (6) No member shall be eligible for selection for any team representing the Club in any competitive sport unless his/her annual subscription has been paid by the due date.
- (7) A member retiring from the Club or ceasing to be a member for any cause shall not be entitled to or use or have any claim upon any portion of the property or funds of the Club.

### **LIABILITY OF MEMBERS**

14. If a member by any breach of these Rules or by any unlawful act causes the Club or an officer of the Club to pay any moneys or to become liable for the payment of moneys such member shall be civilly liable to the Club or to such officer for the amount so paid or due to be paid.

## **DISCIPLINE OF MEMBERS**

15. (1) Any refusal or neglect by a Member to comply with the Club Rules and By Laws shall render such member liable to censure, discipline, fine, suspension or expulsion at the direction of the Board of Management.
- (2) The Board of Management shall have power to censure or discipline (other than to fine, suspend or expel) any member within its jurisdiction for any conduct which in its opinion is unbecoming or prejudicial to the interest of the Club provided always that such member shall be entitled to fourteen (14) days notice, in writing, of the charge and to be present and to be heard at the hearing thereof by the Board of Management.
- (3) Any member fined, suspended or expelled by the Board of Management shall be entitled to appeal, in writing, against the decision to a Special General Meeting of the members of the Club called for that purpose and convened by the Board of Management for that purpose provided that no such meeting shall be called unless and until a requisition for such Special General Meeting signed by at least Twenty (20) members has been lodged with the Board of Management.

## **RESIGNATION OF MEMBERS**

16. A member who has paid all moneys due or payable to the Club may resign from the Club by first giving seven (7) days notice in writing to the Board of Management and upon expiration of such notice the member shall cease to be a member.

## **ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING**

17. (1) The Annual General Meeting of the Club shall be held no later than the 30<sup>th</sup> November of each year upon such date and at such place as the Board of Management shall decide.
- (2) The Secretary shall notify all members at least twenty one (21) days prior to any Annual General Meeting of the time and place at which such meeting will be held and shall state clearly the business that will be brought before such meeting.
- (3) A copy of the notice sent to the members shall be placed on the Club notice board, website and email, no later than the date on which the notice of the meeting is forwarded to the members.

- (4) A Notice may be served by or on behalf of the Club upon any member, either personally or by sending it by mail or email to the member at the address shown in the Register of Members.
- (5) All Notices mailed as a letter, postage prepaid and properly addressed as recorded in the Register of Members, shall unless the contrary is proved, be deemed to have been given to the member at the time at which the letter would have been delivered in the ordinary course of mail.
- (6) A Member desiring to bring any business before an Annual General Meeting shall give notice in writing to the Board of Management at least fourteen (14) days before the next respective Annual General Meeting to be held or email the details to the Club Secretary.
- (7) The business that may be brought before any Annual General Meeting shall be:
  - (a) reading of the notice convening the Meeting;
  - (b) reading and confirmation of minutes of the previous Annual General Meeting and any Special General Meeting held since the last Annual General Meeting.
  - (c) The receiving of the Annual Report and Balance Sheet for the financial year;
  - (d) consideration and adoption of the Annual Report and Balance Sheet.
  - (e) The election of office bearers for the ensuing period; and
  - (f) Nomination and election of Auditors.
  - (g) Determination of honoraria for the current year.
  - (h) The transaction of any other business submitted by the Seniors and Juniors Committees.
  - (i) Any other business properly brought before the meeting.
- (8) Twenty (20) members entitled to vote present in person or by proxy will form a quorum at any Annual General Meeting of the Club.



- (9) At all Annual General Meetings of the Club should a quorum not be present within thirty (30) minutes of the specified time, then such meeting if convened upon the requisition of members shall be dissolved. In any other case the meeting shall stand adjourned to such day, time and place as the Board of Management shall determine, and if at such adjourned meeting other than an adjourned Annual General Meeting a quorum is not present, the meeting shall lapse.
- (10) In the case of an adjourned Annual General Meeting the members present at such adjourned meeting shall form a quorum.
- (11) No notice of any adjourned meeting needs to be delivered or mailed to member but notice thereof shall be placed on the Club notice board.
- (12) No item of business shall be transacted at an Annual General Meeting unless a quorum of members entitled under these Rules to vote is present during the time when the meeting is considering that item.

#### **SPECIAL GENERAL MEETING**

18. (1) All General Meetings of the Club other than Annual General Meetings shall be called Special General Meetings.
- (2) Upon receipt of a written requisition signed by twenty (20) members of the Club, the Secretary shall, within fourteen (14) days of receiving such request, call a Special General Meeting of the Club. Such requisition shall clearly state the business that will be brought before such meeting.
- (3) Upon receipt of a request from the Board of Management, the Secretary shall, within fourteen (14) days of receiving such request, call a Special General Meeting of the Club.
- (4) The Secretary shall notify all members at least seven (7) days prior to any Special General Meeting of the time and place at which such meeting shall be held and shall state clearly the business that will be brought before such meeting.
- (5) The Special General Meeting which shall be held not less than fourteen (14) days and not more than twenty eight (28) clear days from the time of receiving the requisition.
- (6) If the Board of Management does not cause a Special General Meeting to be held within twenty eight (28) days after the date on which the requisition is sent to the Board of Management, the Members making the requisition, or any one of them, may convene a Special General Meeting to be held no later than twenty eight (28) days after that date.

- (7) A Special General Meeting of the Club convened by members in pursuance of these Rules shall be convened in the same manner as nearly as possible as that in which those meetings are convened by the Board of Management and all reasonable expenses incurred in convening the meeting shall be refunded by the Club to the persons incurring the expenses.
- (8) Only the business for which such Special General Meeting is called shall be transacted at such meeting.
- (9) Twenty (20) members present in person or by proxy shall form a quorum at any Special General Meeting of the Club.

### **VOTING AT MEETINGS**

19. (1) All questions for decision of the members at an Annual General or Special General Meeting shall be duly proposed and seconded, and shall be determined by a show of hands unless a ballot is asked for by ten (10) members present. The ballot shall then be taken at the meeting. When a ballot is taken at the meeting two (2) members shall be appointed by those present to conduct the ballot. The position of the names (if more than one) on the ballot paper shall be decided by a draw in the presence of the chairperson. The result of each ballot shall be deemed to be a resolution of the Club adopted at such meeting.
- (2) The Chairperson of an Annual General Meeting or a Special General Meeting shall be entitled to vote, and when the votes are equal, except in the case of an election of officers, the motion or amendment as the case may be shall be declared lost.
- (3) At any Annual General Meeting or Special General Meeting, unless a poll is demanded by at least ten (10) members, a declaration by the Chairperson for the time being that a resolution has been carried by a particular majority and an entry made to that effect in the Minute Book of the Club, shall be conclusive evidence of the fact without proof of the number or proportion of the votes recorded in favour of or against such resolution.
- (4) All resolutions passed at the Annual General Meeting or at any Special General Meeting of the Club shall be conclusive and binding on all members of the Club whether present at such meeting or not.
- (5) All votes at an Annual General Meeting or Special General Meeting shall be given personally or by proxy.

## **PROXIES**

20. (1) The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing and signed by the appointing members. The proxy must be another member of the Club.
- (2) The instrument appointing a proxy must be lodged with the Chairperson prior to the commencement of the meeting at which the member named in the instrument proposes to vote.

## **ELECTION OF OFFICE BEARERS AND THE SENIORS COMMITTEE AND JUNIORS COMMITTEE**

21. (1) The Office Bearers of the Club shall comprise up to twelve (12) members of the Seniors Committee and twelve (12) members of the Juniors Committee, plus an elected Chairman of the Club Board of Management.
- (2) The office bearers of the Club shall hold office for a period of one year and will hold office until the next Annual General Meeting.
- (3) Nominations for all offices must be in writing, signed in each case by proposer and seconder, both of whom must be members of the Club , and the Nominee and must be lodged with the Secretary at least seven (7) days prior to the Annual General Meeting. When insufficient nominations are received for all positions, nominations may be received prior to the commencement of the Annual General Meeting. Should there still be vacancies, they may be filled by the Board of Management at its first meeting after the Annual General Meeting. Such elected officer/s shall hold office until the next Annual General Meeting.
- (4) Where there is a greater number of candidates than official positions, the election shall be made by a show of hands or, if demanded by at least ten (10) members present in person, shall be made by secret ballot.
- (5) Any office bearer may be removed from office at any Special General Meeting called for that purpose.
- (6) If an Office Bearer, other than the President absents himself from three (3) consecutive meetings of the Committee or Sub-committee of which he/she is a member without giving satisfactory explanation to the Committee, then he/she shall be deemed to have vacated his/her office.

## **BOARD OF MANAGEMENT**

22. The Board of Management shall comprise:

One elected Chairman of the Board  
The Seniors President  
2 other senior committee members  
The Juniors President  
2 other junior committee members

Other Board Members (maximum of 2) co-opted by the Board as per Clause 21

The Board Members will include The Club Treasurer & The Club Secretary.

## **POWER AND DUTIES OF THE BOARD OF MANAGEMENT**

23. (1) The sole management of the Club, including dismissal of all servants of the Club, shall be in the hands of the Board of Management which shall have power to perform such acts and deeds as may appear to such Board of Management as necessary or essential in the interests of or the proper management of the Club.
- (2) The Board of Management shall have power to make, amend or repeal any rules or regulations as may appear to the Board of Management as necessary or essential in the interests of or for the proper conduct of the affairs of the Club.
24. No such rule or regulation as described in clause 23. (2) shall be inconsistent with or shall affect or repeal anything contained in this constitution.
25. (1) The Board of Management shall have power to determine the division of members into different classes of members.
- (2) The Board of Management shall have the right to refuse membership to any person without assigning any reason for doing so.
26. The Board of Management shall have power to fix penalties for violation of the constitution, rules or regulations, or for misconduct which, in the opinion of the Board of Management, is detrimental to the welfare of the Club and to enforce or rescind such penalties.
27. The Board of Management shall meet as may be considered necessary.
28. Four (4) members of the Board of Management present in person or by proxy shall form a quorum at any meeting of the Board of Management.
29. The Board of Management shall have power to invite any person to any meeting deemed necessary.

30. The Board of Management shall have power to borrow raise or secure the payment of money in any such manner as the Board of Management shall think fit and in particular by the issue of debentures or debenture stock, perpetual or otherwise charged upon all or any of the Club's property both present and future.
31. (1) The Board of Management shall have the power :
- (a) to interpret the Rules of the Club or any word or expression used in the Rules in the event of any doubt or difficulty arising the interpretation being final and binding on all members subject to confirmation or contradiction by a Special General Meeting of Members that may be called for that purpose.
  - (b) to carry out all resolutions passed at any Annual General Meeting or Special General Meeting of the Club.
  - (c) on the authority of the Annual General Meeting or Special General Meeting of the Club to impose levies on members.
  - (d) to deal with members resignations which must be in writing.
  - (e) to initiate and/or enforce the discipline of any member.
  - (f) to deal with other matters which may arise or which are not specifically provided for in the Rules of the Club.
- (2) The Board of Management shall cause correct books of account to be kept showing the financial affairs of the Club and the particulars usually shown in the books of account of like nature.
- (3) The Board of Management shall authorise all expenditure including any expenditure passed on at the Annual General Meeting or Special General Meeting of the Club.
- (4) The Board of Management shall direct the method of dealing with monies received for and on behalf of the Club.
- (5) The Board of Management shall have power to appoint an assistant or assistants to the Treasurer.
- (6) The Board of Management shall submit to members a statement containing the following:
- (a) the income and expenditure of the Club during its last financial year.
  - (b) the assets and liabilities of the Club at the end of its last financial year.

- (c) the Mortgages, charges and securities affecting any of the property of the Club at the end of its last financial year.

### **DUTIES OF SECRETARY**

32. The Secretary shall attend all Annual General, Special General, Committee or Board of Management meetings properly convened and cause correct minutes and attendance of such meetings to be kept and retained in a special minute book.
33. Except as otherwise provided in this constitution, the Secretary shall keep in his/her custody or under his/her control all books, documents and securities of the Club.
34. The Secretary shall keep and maintain a register of Members in which shall be entered the full name, address and date of entry of the name of each member and the register shall be available for inspection by members at the address of the Public Officer.
35. The Secretary shall conduct all correspondence in connection with the business of the Club.
36. Further, he/she shall in general, perform such functions appertaining to his/her office that the business of the Club shall require.

### **DUTIES OF TREASURER**

37. The Treasurer shall be the Officer of the Club responsible for:-
- (a) the collection and receipt of all monies belonging to the funds of the Club including the collection of subscriptions.
  - (b) promptly depositing or arranging to be deposited with the Club banks all monies received.
  - (c) verifying all accounts drawn against the Club and at the direction of the Board of Management pay all accounts due by the Club.
  - (d) paying staff and maintaining records of personnel, payroll, taxation, superannuation and Workcover.
  - (e) keeping correct accounts of all monies received and expended in accordance with the Club finance instructions.
  - (f) keeping correct books of account showing the financial affairs of the Club and the particulars usually shown in books of account of like nature.

- (g) preparing and submitting at each monthly meeting of the Board the financial position of the Club including balances of all accounts held by banks and other institutions.
  - (h) preparing a Balance Sheet of the Club as at the end of the last financial year together with a Statement of Income and Expenditure for the last financial year in accordance with Section 30(3) of the Act.
  - (i) arranging the timely audit of the Club's financial reports.
  - (j) maintaining records of debenture holders.
  - (k) maintaining the Liquor Purchases Register.
  - (l) carrying out any other duties usually associated with the office of Treasurer.
38. The accounts and books of the Club, maintained by the Treasurer, shall be available for inspection by members on written notice of fourteen (14) days given to the Board of Management.

#### **POWER AND DUTIES OF THE SENIORS COMMITTEE**

39. The annual subscription payable by Seniors shall be such as the Seniors Committee shall decide and, such subscription shall be paid to the Treasurer or Secretary of the Club, or to such person or persons the Seniors Committee shall appoint, subject to the ratification by the Board of Management.
40. (1) The Seniors Committee shall meet at least once a month and at such times as may be considered necessary. The Secretary shall have the power to call a meeting whenever necessary.
- (2) The President, or in his absence the Vice President, shall preside as Chairman at each Seniors Committee meeting of the Club.
- (3) The Seniors Committee meetings will be run as per tabled agenda.
- (4) Eight (8) members of the Seniors Committee present in person shall form a quorum at any meeting of the Seniors Committee.
41. The Seniors Committee shall have power to appoint from within its members or from within the members of the Club such sub-committees for any purpose, including finance, management, social and selection sub-committees it shall deem advisable.

42. (1) No monies shall be expended on behalf of the Seniors without the sanction of the Seniors Committee and all accounts must be submitted and passed for payment at a properly constituted meeting of the Seniors Committee before disbursement. An exception in passing for payment may be made in cases of an urgent nature. Any amount in excess of the limit established by the Board of Management pursuant to the Rules must first be approved by the Board of Management.
- (2) All cheques for disbursements of the Club funds shall be signed by any two of the Juniors President or Seniors President, Secretary or the Treasurer, or one of the abovementioned and one other appointed nominee.
43. The Seniors Committee shall have power to invite any person to any meeting deemed necessary.
44. The Seniors Committee shall have power to appoint within its members or from within the members of the Club the maximum number of delegates permitted by the bodies in which the Club is represented, who shall report to the Seniors Committee on the activities of the respective bodies.
45. The Seniors Committee shall have power to fill any vacancy which may occur within itself during the term of office provided that such elected are members of the Club. Any member elected to fill such vacancy or vacancies shall hold office subject to this constitution, until the next Annual General Meeting.
46. The Seniors Committee shall appoint sufficient persons to enable the Club to perform such duties that may be required from time to time.
47. The Chairperson at any meeting shall have a casting vote as well as a deliberate vote.

#### **APPOINTMENT OF SENIORS COACHES**

48. The Seniors Committee may advertise for and shall appoint a coach or coaches for all senior teams for the following season, on such conditions as it thinks fit, subject to ratification by the Board of Management.

#### **APPOINTMENT OF SENIORS CAPTAINS AND VICE-CAPTAINS**

49. The Captain and Vice-captain of any seniors team representing the Club shall be appointed by the Coach of the teams subject to ratification by the Seniors Committee.



## **POWER AND DUTIES OF THE JUNIORS COMMITTEE**

50. The annual subscription payable by Juniors shall be such as the Juniors Committee shall decide and, such subscription shall be paid to the Treasurer or Secretary of the Club, or to such person or persons the Juniors Committee shall appoint, subject to the ratification by the Board of Management.
51.
  - (1) The Juniors Committee shall meet at least once a month and at such times as may be considered necessary. The Juniors Secretary shall have the power to call a meeting whenever necessary.
  - (2) The Juniors President, or in his absence the Juniors Vice President, shall preside as Chairperson at each Juniors Committee meeting of the Club.
  - (3) The Juniors Committee meetings will be run as per tabled agenda.
  - (4) Eight (8) members of the Juniors Committee present in person shall form a quorum at any meeting of the Juniors Committee.
52. The Juniors Committee shall have power to appoint from within its members or from within the members of the Club such sub-committees for any purpose, including finance, management, social and selection sub-committees it shall deem advisable.
53.
  - (1) No monies shall be expended on behalf of the Juniors without the sanction of the Juniors Committee and all accounts must be submitted and passed for payment at a properly constituted meeting of the Juniors Committee before disbursement. An exception in passing for payment may be made in cases of an urgent nature. Any amount in excess of the limit established by the Board of Management pursuant to the Rules must first be approved by the Board of Management.
  - (2) All cheques for disbursements of the Club funds shall be signed by any two of the Juniors President, Seniors President, Seniors Secretary or the Seniors Treasurer, or one of the abovementioned and one other appointed nominee.
54. The Juniors Committee shall have power to invite any person to any meeting deemed necessary.
55. The Juniors Committee shall have power to appoint within its members or from within the members of the Club the maximum number of delegates permitted by the bodies in which the Club is represented, who shall report to the Juniors Committee on the activities of the respective bodies.

56. The Juniors Committee shall have power to fill any vacancy which may occur within itself during the term of office provided that such elected are members of the Club. Any member elected to fill such vacancy or vacancies shall hold office subject to this constitution, until the next Annual General Meeting.
57. The Juniors Committee shall appoint sufficient persons to enable the Club to perform such duties that may be required from time to time.
58. The Chairperson at any meeting shall have a casting vote as well as a deliberate vote.

### **APPOINTMENT OF JUNIORS COACHES**

59. The Juniors Committee shall appoint a coach or coaches for all Juniors teams for the following season subject to ratification by the Board of Management.

### **APPOINTMENT OF JUNIORS CAPTAINS AND VICE-CAPTAINS**

60. The Captain and Vice-captain of any Juniors team representing the Club shall be appointed by the Coach of the teams subject to ratification by the Juniors Committee.

### **INDEMNITY OF ALL OFFICERS**

61. If the Presidents, Vice Presidents or Secretary or Treasurer in their offices as such have paid or are liable to pay money for any act, default, or any omission of or by any other person such money shall be refunded to such office bearer of the Club.

### **SOURCE OF FUNDS**

62. The funds of the Club shall be:-  
  
annual subscriptions, joining fees, levies, social activities, sponsors contributions, bar trading, canteen trading, donations, gifts debentures and such other sources as the Board of Management determines.
63. Annual subscriptions and all levies and fines shall be deemed to be debts due and recoverable by the Treasurer in the name of the Club.

## **BANK ACCOUNTS**

64. (1) The Bank accounts of the Club shall be kept with such bank, or banks or other financial institutions as from time to time appointed by the Board of Management and all monies banked therein.
- (2) All bank accounts shall be in the name of "Hampton Rovers Amateur Football Club Inc".
- (3) Bank accounts shall not be opened until approved by the Board of Management.
- (4) All bank accounts of the Club shall have as registered signatories the Seniors and Juniors President, Secretary and the Treasurer.
- (5) All cheques drawn on the Club accounts shall be signed by any two (2) of the following registered with the Bank for that purpose, namely: The Seniors and Juniors President, Secretary and Treasurer provided that should any of these officers be absent through illness or other cause and a substitute or acting appointment be made by the Club, then such person acting in the place of any Officer shall be empowered to sign cheques on the Club bank accounts in like manner.

## **AUDIT**

65. (1) Nominations for Auditor(s) shall be taken on the day of the Annual General Meeting each year.
- (2) The Auditor(s) must be professionally qualified for that office to be nominated as Auditor(s) for the Club.
- (3) The Auditor(s) shall be appointed at the Annual General Meeting of the Club.
- (4) The Auditor(s) shall have power at all times to examine the books and documents of the Club and, as soon as it is convenient after the close of the financial year, shall audit the statements of Income and Expenditure setting forth the financial business of the Club for the last financial year and the Balance Sheet of the Club as at the end of the last financial year. These statements shall be prepared by the Treasurer.
- (5) all reports from the Auditor(s) shall be submitted to the Annual General meeting of the Club.

## **COMMON SEAL**

66. (1) The Common Seal of the Club shall be kept in the custody of the Secretary.
- (2) The Common Seal shall not be affixed to any instrument except by the authority of the Board of Management and the affixing of the Common Seal shall be attested by the signatures of either two members of the Seniors Committee or of one member of the Board of Management and the Public Officer of the Club.

## **WINDING UP**

67. In the event of the Club being disbanded, the assets and property after the payment of all such debts and liabilities shall not be distributed to members but shall be distributed to a fund or funds with objects similar to those of the Club and/or to a fund exclusively for charitable purposes.

## **CONTROL OVER CLUB PROPERTY**

68. (1) The negotiating of a loan, the issuing of debentures, the giving of any security over any property of the Club, the selling or purchasing of any realty, the leasing of any land or buildings the property of the Club and all measures in any way extending the liabilities of the Club beyond the assets and estimated revenue of the Club, shall require the prior approval of an Annual General Meeting or Special General Meeting of the Club.
- (2) The property of the Club shall be subject to the control and disposition of the Board of Management which is empowered to negotiate loans, issue debentures, and sell or purchase any realty, and lease any land or buildings of the Club, subject to such approval as aforesaid.

## **BORROWING POWERS**

69. If at any time the Club in Annual General Meeting or Special General Meeting shall pass a resolution authorising the Board of Management to borrow money, the Board of Management shall thereupon be empowered to borrow such amounts of money, either at one time or from time to time, and at such rate of interest, and in such form and manner, and upon such security as shall be specified in such resolution, and thereupon the Board of Management at its discretion shall make all disposition of the Club property or any part thereof, and enter into such agreements in relation thereto, as the Board of Management may deem proper for giving security for such loan and interest. All members of the Club shall be bound by the decision of the meeting.

70. The profits and other income of the Club shall be applied to the promotion of the purposes for which the members are associated together, and no payment of any dividend or distribution of profit or income to or amongst the members of the Club shall be made except in the case of payment of interest and the capital to debenture holders. Provided that nothing herein contained shall prevent the payment by way of honorarium or refund of expenses to any officer of the Club for services rendered as set at the Annual General Meeting of the Club or resulting from endorsement of recommendations from the Board of Management.

### **PUBLIC OFFICER**

71. (1) The Public Officer is the person appointed to handle the requirements of the Associations Incorporation Act 1981.
- (2) The Public Officer shall be the Seniors Secretary of the Club.
- (3) The Public Officer of the Club shall, within fourteen (14) days after appointment, give notice in writing of the appointment to the Registrar.
- (4) The Public Officer shall within fourteen (14) days of changing address in Victoria give notice of the change to the Registrar.
- (5) The Public Officer must within one (1) month of the Annual General Meeting of the Club give to the Registrar a statement in the prescribed form.
- (6) The Public Officer shall lodge a statement outlining all alterations to the Statement of Purposes and Rules of the Club within one (1) month of passing of the special resolution.

### **ALTERATION TO CONSTITUTION AND STATEMENT OF PURPOSES**

72. (1) Subject to the provisions of the Act, the Constitution of the Club may be altered, rescinded or added to at any Special General Meeting called for that purpose or at any Annual General Meeting of the Club, provided notice in writing of the proposed alteration of the Constitution has been lodged with the Secretary at least twenty one (21) days prior to the holding of such meeting.
- (2) Alterations to the Constitution and Statement of Purposes will be by a majority of not less than three-fourths of members.
- (3) The Public Officer shall within one month of the passing of a special resolution notify the Registrar in writing of such alterations which shall be accompanied by the prescribed fee.

## **CLUB RULES**

73. (1) Visitors to the Club must not be supplied with liquor in the Club premises unless in the company of a member of the Club.
- (2) Members shall be allowed to introduce visitors to the Club subject to such regulations as the Board of Management shall determine from time to time provided that no person shall be introduced as a visitor whose conduct or presence on the Club's premises would be considered objectionable or prejudicial to the interests of the Club.
- (3) The names and addresses of all visitors and the names and signatures of members introducing them shall be recorded in a Visitors Book and the introducers shall be responsible for the conduct of their visitors and any damage they may cause whilst at the Club. Such visitors shall only remain in the Club during the pleasure and in the presence of the members introducing them to the Club.
- (4) An appropriate register is to be provided for keeping of records of guests which will be known as the Visitors Book.
- (5) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein contained the Board of Management upon advice of the Club's legal advisers may in connection with procedure for approval of these Rules or amendments thereof by the Liquor Licensing Commission make such amendment or amendments of these Rules as may be required to comply with the Liquor Control Act or any requirements, direction, submission or policy of the Commission. Any such amendment shall unless otherwise determined by the Board of Management take effect forthwith and the Board of Management shall cause a copy of such amendment or amendments to be displayed in a conspicuous position in the Club premises within seven (7) days after making thereof.
- (6) The Club premises shall be open to members for such times and on such conditions as may be decided by the Board of Management from time to time subject to any Licences issued under the Liquor Control Act.
- (7) No more than such number of persons as the licensed premises can adequately accommodate shall be permitted on such premises at any one time.
74. No betting or objectionable language shall be allowed on the Club premises. Any infringement of this Rule may be brought to the notice of the Board of Management who for each offence shall have the power to deprive the member so offending of such privileges of the Club as the Board of Management shall determine or to discipline such member as allowed herein.

No member shall remove from the Club premises or deface or damage any article being the property of the Club. Members removing or damaging any article being the property of the Club shall pay for the same at a price fixed by the Board of Management.

### **EQUITY OF MEMBER BENEFIT**

75. (1) No person shall receive any benefit or advantage from the Club which is not shared equally by every member thereof, other than -
- (a) a remuneration approved by the Liquor Control Commission paid as salaries or wages to employees.
  - (b) wages paid to any Club member for casual work approved by the Board of Management.
- (2) No payment or part payment shall be made to any Officer, Member or servant of the Club by way of commission or allowance from or upon the receipts of the Club for liquor supplied.
- (3) No members shall be relieved of the payment of the regular subscription appropriate to their category of membership except in exceptional or worthy cases where the Board of Management may exercise its discretion to waive all or any part of the subscription due.

### **SUPPLY OF LIQUOR**

76. (1) No liquor as defined by the Liquor Control Act 1968 or any amendment thereof or substitution therefore shall be sold or supplied to any person in contravention of the provisions of the said Act.
- (2) No liquor shall be sold or supplied to any person under eighteen (18) years of age except where such person is accompanied by a spouse, parent or guardian and the liquor is sold or supplied for consumption as part of a meal supplied on the Club's premises.
- (3) No person under the age of eighteen (18) years shall serve behind the bar.
- (4) Notwithstanding anything herein before contained no intoxicating liquor shall be sold, supplied or disposed of on the premises in contravention of the Liquor Licence pertaining to the premises.

## **GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE**

77.

### **Application**

(1) The grievance procedure set out in this Division applies to disputes under these Rules between —

- (a) a member and another member;
- (b) a member and the Committee;
- (c) a member and the Association.

(2) A member must not initiate a grievance procedure in relation to a matter that is the subject of a disciplinary procedure until the disciplinary procedure has been completed.

### **Parties must attempt to resolve the dispute**

The parties to a dispute must attempt to resolve the dispute between themselves within 14 days of the dispute coming to the attention of each party.

### **Appointment of mediator**

(1) If the parties to a dispute are unable to resolve the dispute between themselves within 14 days, the parties must within 10 days—

- (a) notify the Committee of the dispute; and
- (b) agree to or request the appointment of a mediator; and
- (c) attempt in good faith to settle the dispute by mediation.

(2) The mediator must be—

- (a) a person chosen by agreement between the parties; or
- (b) in the absence of agreement—
  - (i) if the dispute is between a member and another member—a person appointed by the Committee; or
  - (ii) if the dispute is between a member and the Committee or the Association—a person appointed or employed by the Dispute Settlement Centre of Victoria.

(3) A mediator appointed by the Committee may be a member or former member of the Association but in any case must not be a person who—

- (a) has a personal interest in the dispute; or
- (b) is biased in favour of or against any party.

### **Mediation process**

(1) The mediator to the dispute, in conducting the mediation, must—

- (a) give each party every opportunity to be heard; and
- (b) allow due consideration by all parties of any written statement submitted by any party; and



(c) ensure that natural justice is accorded to the parties throughout the mediation process.

(2) The mediator must not determine the dispute.

**Failure to resolve dispute by mediation**

If the mediation process does not resolve the dispute, the parties may seek to resolve the dispute in accordance with the Act or otherwise at law.